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	OS NGR
	Sheet
	No.
	Name & Location
	County
	Cond’n
	Type 1945
	Comments

	SD 3365 9427
	96
	1
	Grizedale Hall, Grizedale, Ambleside, (Cumbria)
	Cumberland
	4
	Base Camp
	Country house & circa 30 huts, double perimeter fence with watchtowers. All huts demolished.



Location: Grizedale Hall and 4,500-acre estate is located in the Lake District between Windermere and Coniston Water. In 1939 it was in the parish of Satterthwaite in the county of Lancashire, (later boundary changes placed it in Cumbria). It’s remote position well away from any town, or even large village, as well as its availability, offered an ideal location.
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	Camp set between Windermere and Coniston Water. 
© OpenStreetMap contributors
	
	Ordnance Survey – Revised map from 1912 – Showing Grizedale Hall.



Previous use: The third Grizedale Hall was built in 1905 in neo-Gothic style for Harold Brocklebank, a wealthy shipping magnate. There were 40 rooms with 25 bedrooms. After Harold’s death in 1936, the hall and estate were sold to the Forestry Commission. During 1939 the hall was leased to a holiday fellowship, but the war ended that venture. 


	[image: ]
	



Grizedale Hall became POW Camp 1 from 1939 to 1946.


<


Archtect’s plan.
Title: Grizedale Hall, for Harold Brocklebank, Walker, Carter, Walker, Windermere. Held by Cumbria Archive Centre, Kendal. 

Reference: WDB 69/1737/17-25



Ground floor – 1/8 inch, 1904.


	

Other Plans available:
- First floor, second floor and roof plans, 1/8 inch, 1904
- Elevation of entrance tower, and another of library gable etc., ½ inch, 1907
- Plan of hall, elevation of fireplace, entrance elevation and elevation to stair, scale not given, 1907
- Plan of library, detail of fireplace, elevation to hall, elevation to ingle and elevation facing ingle, scale not given, 1907
- Plan of billiard room, elevation to ingle, detail of panelling, detail of fireplace and elevation to loggia, scale not given, 1907



	No 1 POW camp: Grizedale Hall was commandeered by the War Office in 1939 to become ‘No 1 POW Camp (Officers) Grizedale Hall. The Hall provided reasonably comfortable standards for officers, and huts were built in the grounds to increase capacity to about 300.

The Hall was partially described in the book, ‘The One That Got Away’; Chapter VI - Escape In The Lake District, (James Leasor & Kendal Burt, 1956). The Hall was also shown shortly before its destruction in the film made in 1956;

“The imposing, studded main door opens into a gloomy hail lit by stained-glass windows incorporating the armorial bearings of the last private owner….. 
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Grizedale 1906 >


< South facing ‘rear’

	

	
	
The large, paneled library, with its handsome fireplace and wide windows overlooking the valley and the road winding down towards Satterthwaite, was used by the prisoners as a common room. The walls of the best bedrooms, used, no doubt, by Colonels, are covered with material, possibly silk, bearing hand-painted floral designs. There are no signs of vandalism, and though the walls of some of the rooms used by German O.R.'s, assigned to the camp as batmen and orderlies, are scribbled on, the oak paneling was respected and is unscathed. Round the walls of one of the servants' rooms there is a striking frieze bearing an elaborate, repetitive floral pattern. On close examination it can be seen to be painted in water colour on toilet paper. It must have taken months to complete.

The British military authorities converted part of the basement into cells for prisoners sentenced to disciplinary punishment. The walls are covered with penciled drawings of U-boats and sinking ships, and of German bombers and fighters shooting down Hurricanes and Spitfires.”



The site was protected by barbed wire fencing, guard towers with moveable car headlights as searchlights, and a road block.
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	The camp was protected by a double perimeter barbed-wire fence with a central wooden walkway between for some sections. There were several guard towers.
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	<  Barbed wire fencing and walkway surrounding the grounds.

POW and escort >

From a British Pathé film dated c.1941.



Facilities for the prisoners included a library with German language books, a kitchen garden, a canteen / shop and a football pitch. Occupations for the prisoners included sports, games, and educational lessons.
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Although intended for officers, (and other ranks serving the officers) there were also some Italian other rank PoWs held here, some carrying out gardening and other jobs in the local area. Prisoners held at Grizedale were often shipped to Canada.

The idea of housing the enemy in a stately home did not go down well with many. House of Commons, 21 November 1939 (Volume 353; col1010):

“Colonel Wedgwood asked the Secretary of State for War what is the estimated cost of the prison for officer-prisoners in the North of England, including food, rent, upkeep, protection. wages, etc.; how many prisoners there are; and what it amounts to per head?

Mr. Hore-Belisha - The rent of the camp in question has not yet been settled, but, apart from this, the cost is about £50 a day, of which £45 is in respect of staff. There are 21 prisoners at present in the camp, which is adequate to accommodate 200.

Colonel Wedgwood - Would it not be cheaper to keep them at the Ritz and allow them to go home if they are prepared to take the risk?

Mr. Gallacher - Does it not cost over £2 a day to keep them?

Captain Shaw - Would my right hon. Friend consider keeping these people in caravans?”

Although listed as a ‘base camp’, Grizedale was often used as a transit camp. Pows were brought in until there were sufficient numbers and transport to move them on. The use of the camp went through certain phases:

1939 – March 1942: German officers - transferred to camps in Canada.

1942: Vichy French Officers – transferred to the Free French Force.

1943 – April 1945: German Officers – transferred to USA / Canada / Other UK camps.

April 1945 – end 1945: Senior German Officers – transferred to other UK Camps, 11 and 18 in particular.

1946 – July 1946: Austrian Officers – to repatriation camps.


1939 – March 1942: German officers.

October 1939 – the first pows were officers of U-39, (sunk 14 September) commanded by Korvettenkapitän Gerhard Glattes, (other officers – Friedrich v.Gärzke Oblt.z.S - 1WO  /  Dietrich Jahr Lt.z.S - 2WO  /  Wilhelm Möllenhoff Kplt.ing – LI). Followed not long after by the officers of U-27, (sunk 20 September) commanded by Kapitänleutnant Johannes Franz + Werner Kolb Oblt.z.S.- 1WO / Hermann Beckmann Oblt.z.S. - 2WO / Hans Steig Oblt.ing. – LI).  (Franz was promoted in 1941, while in captivity, to Korvettenkapitän).

7 November 1939 - The first visit by delegates of the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) led by R A Haccius, was made and gave a brief report. Capacity 200 officers and 30 other ranks – actual: 7 aviators, 11 submariners, 4 other ranks. 

Commandant; Lieutenant Colonel Cobb			Camp Leader: Kapitänleutnant Johannes Franz. Captain of U-27.

Although the delegate commented on the good standard of the accommodation, he noted some complaints – the pows did not have access to money; cigarettes were in short supply; mail had not been received though pows had sent letters from the camp; and additional clothing was required. He noted that some pows had volunteered to work, though this was not required for officers. The Camp Leader requested additional books for the library. 

Other ranks at the camp acted as cooks, orderlies, cleaners, etc. They had their own camp spokesman.

Soon after this report, the pows were allowed to have ‘accounts’ maintained within the camp and the use of plastic tokens and paper vouchers to buy items from the camp ‘canteen’. Real money was not allowed as it would be of use to any escapee.

14 November 1939 – eighteen officers present, (11 kriegsmarine & 7 Luftwaffe) - British report to ICRC.

21 November 1939 – twenty-one officers – many from U-boats. The camp soon gained the nickname of ‘U-boat hotel’.

[image: ]November 1939 – Extracts from a news article in the Daily Herald by H V Morton:

“The colonel had been through the last war and was on the Reserve List when called up to organise “The U-boat Hotel”. He is the ideal man for the job, a bachelor who likes living in the depths of the country, a humorous, humane disciplinarian who is resolved to make his captives as comfortable as regulations will allow.

He has under him five officers and about 150 men of the National Defence Corps, all old soldiers, and several of them, by some ironic twist of destiny, once British prisoners of war in Germany! The officers and guards live in the estate cottages and in the barns and the stables, while the Germans live in the more spectacular surroundings of the hall itself.

Before we went to the hall, we had a look at the quarters in which the guards are living. A canteen is being fitted up in an old coach house. Coke stoves are being installed in barns and stables where the men sleep. These old soldiers appeared delighted to be back in khaki. I thought that perhaps their wives would not be too pleased to see how gaily they have taken to the old life! As we walked past their beds and looked at the kits neatly set out on the blankets, I noticed that above every bed had been placed a picture of the King or Queen.
We now approached the hall itself. A huge country house in the Edwardian-Tudor style that was empty when war broke out and has been empty, I think, for two or three years. It is the kind of house in which few people except orphans or committees can afford to live nowadays. It once belonged to a wealthy shipowner. It has been surrounded by a double system of barbed wire entanglements. Armed guards patrol the place day and night and high look-out platforms have been erected all round it on which sentries are posted. A circle of powerful electric lights illuminates the hall and its grounds after nightfall. The Germans sleep in dormitories, formerly the best bedrooms, and as more prisoners arrive more rooms are opened up. They sleep on comfortable iron bedsteads and box mattresses and have an adequate supply of warm blankets.

Men who are rescued from the sea rarely have any possessions, so the officers have had to be provided with razors, soap, shaving brushes and other articles, which are to be seen; neatly arranged above each bed. Their possessions will grow, no doubt, as their captivity lengthens and as parcels are received from Germany.

At the moment they have no money, but arrangements for an Anglo-German prisoners-of-war finance scheme are going through with, I believe, the help of the Dutch Government, which is acting as go-between. When this scheme is complete English money will go to Germany for our prisoners and German money will come over here for Germans. Lack of money, of course, means no cigarettes, but the British officers have supplied cigarettes at their own expense.

Picture of Hitler

The huge panelled dining-room on the ground floor, in which the shipowner once entertained his guests, is the German common-room. It is simply furnished with a few chairs and a ping-pong table. The only decoration is a photograph of Hitler shooting out his arm in salute.

“Every prisoner is a hundred per cent. Nazi,” said the Colonel. “At first, when addressed by an officer, they would come to attention and give the Nazi salute with a ‘Heil Hitler.’ But we have stopped that, and they don’t attempt to do it now.”

“What do they do all day?”

“They play cards and ping-pong. The Bishop of —– has sent us a lot of German books, I hope, as time goes on to be able to organise other amusements for them, so that they won’t get too bored.”

A serving hatch from the dining-hall communicates with a large up-to-date kitchen. Four German naval ratings who had been submarine cooks, have been detailed to look after the officers. They receive ordinary military rations — exactly the same food as that in the British Officers’ mess — and this the German cooks are allowed to prepare as they like, or rather as their officers like!
While we were looking at the bathrooms upstairs, we heard the tramp of approaching feet and saw the Germans returning from their morning exercise. The sentries sloped arms. The gates in the barbed wire were hastily unlocked and the young men passed inside.

He Sobbed

“See that young fellow, the third in the last file,” said the commandant, “He’s a submarine lieutenant—a mere boy—and he sobbed his heart out the first night because he is now of no further use to the Fatherland.”

We went downstairs into the dining-room, where the Germans were now gathered. They sprang stiffly to attention until the commandant told them to relax. A sentry stood at the door with a rifle and fixed bayonet. The young men gathered round the commandant and talked freely to him in excellent English, and I could see that they liked him. I think these young fellows also respected the long row of ribbons on his chest.

* * *

After lunching with the British officers in their mess I noticed with interest that they were all reading “The Escaping Club,” by AJ Evans, an admirable account of British prisoners in Germany during the last war. I was told that the commandant had suggested it was their duty to study the psychology of war captivity.

“It is impossible for men captured in war not to dream of escape,” I was told. “No matter how awful the horrors from which they’ve escaped and how sure the knowledge that they are safe, the boredom, the lack of news, the very fact of being held against their wills in enemy country makes any risk and even a return to danger seem worth while.”

From: https://hvmorton.com/2016/05/07/grizedale-hall-the-u-boat-hotel/  

“Henry Vollam Canova Morton (or HVM), was Britain’s foremost travel writer during the period between the wars, hailed at the time as “the world’s greatest living travel writer”.

18 December 1939 - A memorandum by the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to the War Cabinet regarding ‘German Prisoners of War in Great Britain’ described the prisoners:

“With regard to the military and naval prisoners of war (from U-boat and Air Services), their morale is high and their attitude inclined to be defiant, not to say hostile. They have an exaggerated admiration for Hitler… At the officers’ camp the inmates are obviously cowed by the Senior Officer (one of the chief submarine Commanders in Germany). When he is present they are all dumb and reply to questions only with head shakes. Most of the prisoners speak English.*

Many of them have been fished out of the water and have been provided with clothes by their captors. One officer was found to have been badly bitten by a jelly-fish….

The officer prisoners are extremely suspicious of attempts to extract information from them. On a recent occasion, an officer, the only survivor of an engagement, who arrived in the camp alone, was so severely shunned and made the object of such unpleasant remarks by his fellow captives, who believed him to be a spy, that he appealed to the British Commandant for protection.

	With regard to the U-boat officers, they are mostly on the young side, the oldest being about 32. They are described as belonging in the majority to the bourgeois class. The men are young and have not had much sea experience, but their training at the U-boat schools in Germany is said to be excellent. Most of the German Air Force personnel captured appeared to have served with the German civilian air lines.” (War Cabinet - W.P.(G) (39) 157).

* Note – I think the senior officer at the time would have been Werner Lott, commander of the U-35 sunk on 29 November 1939. Although some U-boat commanders held equivalent ranks, he had seniority. The other two officers of the Ältestenrat (Council) were from the Luftwaffe; Major Willibald Fanelsa and Hauptman Helmut Pohle. Commander Kretschmer took over later.

During 1940 10 huts were built in the grounds which expanded capacity from 200 to 300.

October 1940 - ICRC report recorded 200 officers and 35 other ranks. Camp leader was recorded as Werner Lott.

18 March 1942 - ICRC camp inspection report – see below. Commandant Major Veitch / Camp Leader Otto Kretschmer

March 1942 - the prisoners at Grizedale were shipped to Bowmanville Camp in Canada.
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	POWs at leisure in Grizedale Hall, 17 November 1939   







	PRISONER OF WAR CAMP NO. 1

POSTAL ADDRESS:            Prisoner of War Camp No.1, England.
COMMANDANT:                 Major Veitch
CAMP LEADER:                  Korvetten-Kapitan (lieutenant commander) KRETSCHMER
CAPACITY:                          300 Officers
STRENGTH:                         146 officers, 20 batmen.
NATIONALITY:                   German
DATE OF VISIT:                  18th. March, 1942
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
A kitchen garden, an acre in area, has recently been included in the boundary of the camp; the free space at the disposal of the occupants is at present 4 acres, including the football field.
 
Thirty-two officers live in three hutments; twenty batmen live in another.
 
FOOD.
 
Rations are those laid down by the regulation of February 1942. Korvetten-Kapitan Kretschmer estimates that the rations are still sufficient and he is counting on a balance of vegetables from the kitchen-garden. However, he drew the attention of the Delegate to the fact that the present rations are those of depot troops engaged on sedentary occupations which are inferior to those of depot troops on manual or active work and he considered that the batmen, by their occupation and the nature of their work, should benefit from a supplementary ration.
 
CLOTHING.
 
The officers are all well-off for uniforms. It would be a good thing if they could benefit in the same way as their comrades at Camp No.15 by being able to buy, at a reasonable price, battle-dress in order to keep their uniforms while they work on terracing and at their gardens. They are well provided with underclothing, linen, socks, shoes and pyjamas. They are lacking in "police hats" (Feldmutzen).
 
The batmen wear battle-dress, dyed nigger-brown and marked with red discs at the knee and the back. Their names and measurements will be communicated on the forms sent to this Delegation.
 
Oberleutnant Moll, in charge of the postal service, has ticked off the 186 parcels of uniforms addressed by the German Red Cross to Camp No.1. From this verification it seems that 76 parcels have arrived safely; 17 parcels addressed to officers who have been transferred have been re-dispatched to the new address but their arrival has not yet been notified. Apart from these, a number of parcels containing uniforms, but not appearing on the list from the G.R.C., have arrived at the camp.
	
	
CORRESPONDENCE.
 
Sixteen sacks containing letters and parcels had arrived in the camp the day before the Delegate's visit.
 
The questions in the letter of March 3rd.1942, are as follows:-
 
1. Total number of parcels with G.R.C. label sent between 16th.July and 31st.December 1941: 2257
    Total numbers of arrival by end February 1942: 1942
    Losses: 24%
2. See under "Clothing."
3. The dispatch of tobacco on August 8th. 1941, has not arrived; 16 parcels sent on August 14th. have arrived except for No.599; the dispatch of September 30th. has arrived complete; 17 parcels from the dispatch of October 3rd. have arrived (Nos. 1790 and 1796 are missing).
4. Nothing has arrived.
 
Oberleutnant Moll remarked that it is particularly the Standard ("Typenpakete") parcels which their families have ordered from the G.R.C. which do not arrive. He quoted his own case, for example: 22 parcels ordered and paid for by his family in 1941 - 4 have arrived and he would like to know the dates of dispatch. It is difficult to believe that there can have been a loss of such a quantity (82%).

INFIRMARY.
 
The state of health is excellent. Three slight cases in the infirmary, of whom there were two batmen suffering from rheumatism.
 
INTELLECTUAL OCCUPATIONS.
 
The camp library has 500 German books; more books and in particular technical and language-course books are asked for. The camp receives regularly four daily papers and illustrated papers. Classes have been able to be organised, thanks to the material help from the G.R.C. The following classes were held during the winter: English, Italian, Spanish, Russian, history, mathematics and meteorology.
 
Korvetten-Kapitan Kretschmer took note of the letter from the G.R.C. (11.12.41 Praesidium annexed to your note No.426). 1st Lieut. Knoeringer does not remember the contents of the letter to which it refers; he declares that if he made any criticisms on the choice of literature addressed to his camp, they certainly were not directed against the dispatches made by the G.R.C. which have always been very much appreciated.





	MANUAL OCCUPATIONS AND SPORTS.
 
Camp No.1 intends to follow the example of No.15 and a vast programme for work has been studied by the specialists concerned. This consists of the drainage of a football field, the cultivation of a kitchen-garden, the construction of a swimming pool, the purchase of bee-hives etc. Sports tournaments are to be held and the suggestion is made that the G.R.C. should offer a prize or else a football strong enough to stand up against the barbed wire.
 
Walks outside the camp take place daily in groups of 35.
 
CANTEEN.
 
The canteen is supplied by NAAFI; see list in annexe of the goods theoretically in stock. Stocking becomes more and more difficult. From the canteen books, the following figures are given, among others, for February 1942:
 
2,400          Cigarettes
£31             Cigars
46 1/2 lbs. Tobacco.
 
REQUESTS.
 
All the requests made during the course of the previous visit with the exception of point 4, have been able to be satisfied. At the present time each officer has a pair of sheets and a pillow-slip. The camp is now supplied with electric current from the overhead grid system and the night-time lighting is now sufficient.
 
The only two remaining requests are the following:-
 
1. Speeding-up of the correspondence.
 
2. Enquiry into the reason for the losses of Standard Parcels.
 
GENERAL IMPRESSION.
 
Excellent; the attitude towards the camp administration is now normal and everyone seems to have decided to make the best of the situation. The idea of suggesting that the German Red Cross should favour sports activity during the summer, is a point to be considered.
 
R.A. HACCIUS.
 
	
	
Annexe:        List of products in the canteen.
                      Copy of letter of March 3rd. 1942 re parcels. 

LIST OF GOODS AVAILABLE AS PURCHASES AND ACTUALLY PURCHASED BY GERMAN P.O.W. AT NO.1 CAMP DURING FEBRUARY AND MARCH 1941
 
Shoes, slippers, etc.
Cellos, violins, clarinets, cymbals and musical instruments of all kinds.
Books, English and German of all kinds (Books now on order to the value of £150-200).
Daily and weekly newspapers of all kinds (English).
Uniforms and clothing, underwear etc. (Uniforms on order to value of £400).
Crockery, glasses, dishes etc.
Beer, cigarettes, toilet necessities of all kinds.
Sports suits, hockey-sticks, football gear, running shoes, parallel bars, sports equipment of all kinds.
Stationery, pencils, pens, fountain pens, notebooks, writing and drawing materials, paints, paint-brushes etc.
Handkerchiefs, ties, dressing-gowns.
Carpenter's tools, axes, tool-chests, wood for making cabinets etc.
Garden tools of all kinds.
Suitcases, hair-brushes, combs.
Cakes, fancy and plain, milk.
Towels, sponges etc. soap, dish-cloths.
Electric irons.
Cigars, pipes etc. tobacco pouches.
Garden seeds.
Curtain material, carpets, rugs and matting.
Musical scores.
Penknives, nail-files, nail-scissors, eau-de-cologne, face-cream, scrubbing-brushes, hair-cream, candles, dusters, elastic, etc.


LIST OF GOODS WHICH MAY BE PURCHASED FROM THE N.A.A.F.I. FOR P/W
 
	A.
	Brushes, shaving
	C.
	Vinegar

	 
	Soap, shaving
	cont.
	Cakes

	 
	Blades, razor
	 
	Bread

	 
	Cream, hair
	 
	Biscuits

	 
	Powder
	 
	Fruit

	 
	Eau de cologne
	 
	Malt extract

	 
	Emery boards
	 
	Ovaltine









		 
	Scissors, small nail
	 
	Olive oil

	 
	Combs, hair
	 
	Spaghetti, macaroni

	 
	Cream, face, after shaving
	 
	Tomato puree.

	 
	Powders, shampoo
	 
	 

	 
	Brushes, tooth
	D.
	Buttons

	 
	Toothpaste or powders
	 
	Needles, cottons

	 
	Brilliantine
	 
	Brushes, shoe

	 
	Mirrors, shaving (cheap)
	 
	Shoe polish, black and brown

	 
	Brushes, hair.
	 
	Laces, shoe

	 
	 
	 
	Metal polish

	B. 
	Cigarettes (Foreign)
	 
	Clothes brushes

	 
	Tobacco
	 
	Shoe-socks

	 
	Cigars and cheroots
	 
	Braces, suspenders

	 
	Pipes and pipe cleaners
	 
	 

	 
	Holders and cigarette cases
	E.
	Exercise books

	 
	Lighters and flints
	 
	Pens and ink, pencils, crayons

	 
	Tobacco pouches
	 
	Drawing paper

	 
	Fuel for lighters
	 
	Dictionaries

	 
	 
	 
	Rosaries

	C.
	Oxo or Bovril
	 
	Playing cards

	 
	Cocos
	 
	Table tennis

	 
	Health salts
	 
	Variety of indoor games

	 
	Mustard
	 
	Wallets, diaries

	 
	Cayenne pepper
	 
	Pencil sharpeners

	 
	Minerals
	 
	Gramophone records

	 
	Coffee
	 
	Drawing pins, rulers

	 
	 
	 
	Attaché cases, small.

	 
	 
	 
	Earthenware cups and enamel mugs


- - - - - - - - - - -
Letter dated March 3rd. 1942
Dear Korvetten-Kapitan,
1. The German Red Cross has lately sent me a first general list of the parcels sent in the period 16th. July to 15th. October 1941. I give below the following figures of parcels destined for Camp No.1 taken from this list:-
16  -  31 July               28 Parcels
 1  -  15 August         126    "
	
	16  -  31      "               134    "
 1  -  15 September    138    "
16  -  30        "             216   "
 1  -  15 October         377   "
 
I have enquired whether all kinds of parcels - standard, uniform, tobacco, books and those sent via the German Red Cross from relatives - are included in these figures.
 
2. Another list, of which copy enclosed, shows the Uniform parcels sent to Camp No.1 by the Army, Navy and Air Force authorities through the German Red Cross.
 
3. From a letter from Geneva of the 21st.October 1941, I take the following figures of Tobacco parcels addressed by the German Red Cross to the Camp Leader of Camp No.1:
 
 8 August            11    5 Kg. Tobacco parcels
14     "                   17   "   "           "             "
30 September      24   "   "           "             "
 3 October           19   "   "           "             "
 
Further, 110 Cigarette Parcels were sent on the 27th.September to individual officers; their camp number is, however, not mentioned.
 
4. Geneva wrote on the 27th.January in continuation of a letter dated 27th.November, that the following are figures of Christmas parcels sent by the G.R.C. to Camp No.1;-
 
 60 Bread parcels numbered 1 - 60
180 Individual Christmas parcels Nos. 717 - 896
  2 Tomato puree parcels Nos. 2270 - 2271
The date of dispatch is not given. 5. Finally, it appears from a letter from Geneva of October 3rd. 1941 that 100 G.R.C. Reserve Standard parcels were sent to the Officers Camp No.1 to be kept for newly arrived P/W.
 
6. I would be grateful to you if, from your Parcels Register, you could assist me in the computation of the losses of parcels sent from or through the G.R.C. These parcels are, in addition, registered by the G.R.C. and a similar registration by means of Receipt Cards received is kept in Berlin.
 
7. German Red Cross Standard Parcels. Regulation No.9 gives relatives the necessary instructions for the ordering of Standard Parcels. The G.R.C. now wishes to know:-
 
1) Whether the contents of these parcels arrive in good condition and whether the packing is satisfactory.
2) Suggestions regarding alterations to contents.





1942: Vichy French Officers


During 1942, fifty French officers who had surrendered at the invasion of Madagascar were temporarily settled here. Winston Churchill stated that up to 1000 French Vichy prisoners were taken – 300 officers and 31 other ranks were brought to the UK with the intention of getting them to join the Fighting French Forces here. Those that were reluctant to do so were held at Grizedale for a while. (HC Deb 10 November 1942, Vol 383 Col 2259-60).  


1943 – April 1945: German Officers 

16 November 1943 - ICRC inspection and report

30 June 1944 - ICRC inspection and report


24 April 1945 – start 1946: Senior German Officers

Most of the pows were transferred to other UK Camps; Island Farm Camp 11 and Featherstone Camp 18 in particular.

During this time the historian Basil Liddell Hart made 15/16 visits to the Hall and further visits to the officers’ camp 13 at Shap. He lived five miles away from Grizedale and was granted access as a re-education lecturer. During his first visit on 9 August 1945, after his lecture, Liddell Hart took the opportunity to conduct interviews with the pows. In further visits he interviewed Field Marshal von Rundstedt and several generals, with Captain F S Kingston acting as interpreter. Liddell Hart did not just cover historical background to the war, but also raised discussions about the future role of Germany.

Following his meetings, he sent reports to the PID (Political Intelligence Department). On 1 November he gave the opinion that most of the generals were; “apolitical vacuum-men who have hitherto concentrated upon their professional work and have never thought about wider questions”. Many regarded his views as at best naïve. After the German pows were transferred to Island Farm Camp 11, Liddell Hart was no longer allowed access to them other than through correspondence. He resumed contacts with many of the officers after their release in Germany. His book, ‘The Other Side of the Hill’ was largely based on his interviews at Grizedale.

[Further details of Liddell Hart’s involvement following his interviews at Grizedale, see – ‘A Very Special Relationship: Basil Liddell Hart, Wehrmacht Generals and the Debate on West German Rearmament, 1945-1953’ by Alaric Searle, War In History 1998 5. Online version - http://wih.sagepub.com/content/5/3/327.citation ].

27 May 1945 - ICRC inspection and report – see below – made just over 2 weeks after the end of the war in Europe.




	POW CAMP 1.
Visited by Mr F Bieri on 27th of May 1945.

Address:  German POW Camp 1, Great Britain

Capacity:  300

Commandant: Lt-Col R Morton.

Camp strength:
	A. Officers
	a) Heer:
	Generaloberst
	2

	
	
	General der Inf.
	2

	
	
	Generalleutnant
	10

	
	
	Generalmajor
	9

	
	
	Oberst
	16

	
	
	Oberstlt.
	31

	
	
	Hauptmann
	1

	
	
	Leutnant
	1

	
	
	
	

	
	b) Marine:
	Admiral
	7

	
	
	Other officers
	7

	
	
	
	

	
	c) Luftwaffe
	General
	1

	
	
	Generalleutnant
	5

	
	
	Generalmajor
	12

	
	
	Oberst
	6

	
	
	Oberstlt.
	9

	
	
	Leutnant
	1

	
	
	Total officers
	120

	Note: 48 officers of General or Admiral rank.
	

	
	
	
	

	B. Other Ranks (Camp staff and batmen)
	

	
	
	Heer
	53

	
	
	Marine
	18

	
	
	Luftwaffe
	5

	
	
	Total other ranks
	76

	
	
	
	

	C. Summary
	Officers
	120

	
	
	Other ranks
	76

	
	
	Total POW
	196



Nationality:  German

Senior Officers: Generaloberst HOLLIDT, 560245
                           Generaloberst HARPE, 560244

Camp Leader: WILCK, Gerhard, Oberst, 18881

Assistant: HOBUSCH, Albert, Oberstlt.i.Gst., A.938692
	
	GENERAL DESCRIPTION
          See previous reports. This camp has been reserved for Senior Officers, including accommodation for 100 Generals, since 24.4.45. There are no changes in the number of rooms in the Hall or in the number of huts.

A.Officers
	
	a)
	Accommodation in Hall:
	Officers

	
	
	In rooms with 1 bed
	1

	
	
	“        “      “    2 beds
	4

	
	
	“        “      “    3    “
	18

	
	
	“        “      “    4    “
	16

	
	
	“        “      “    5    “
	30

	
	
	“        “      “    6    “
	6

	
	
	
	75 off. in rooms

	
	b)
	In huts:
	

	
	
	2 huts with 11 officers in each hut
	22

	
	
	1 hut with 23 officers
	23

	
	
	
	45 off. in huts

	B. Other Ranks.
	

	
	
	In rooms with 2 beds
	2

	
	
	“        “      “    12 beds
	12

	
	
	“        “      “    8    “
	8

	
	
	“     hut      “    29  “
	29

	
	
	“        “      “    25  “
	25

	Note 5 huts are empty
	76 Other Ranks



            Electric lighting, Fireplaces in Hall, stoves in huts.
The officers are allowed to gather firewood in the nearby woods.

Bedding – 4 blankets, 2 sheets and 1 pillow per officer issued.

Convention.  In possession of Camp Leader.

Sanitary Installations. Sufficient. Baths, etc. available.

Food.  No complaints. We had lunch with a Generaloberst, the Camp Leader and 3 other officers.

           Bill of Fare on date of visit (a Sunday):

Breakfast:  1 cup of coffee, 20gr. Margarine, 1 teaspoonfull of Jam, 3 slices of bread.
Dinner    :  Soup, potatoes, roast meat with sour sauce, salad, pudding.
At 4p.m. :  1 cup of coffee, 2 pieces of cake.
Supper    :  1 cup of tea, 20gr. Margarine, 3 slices of bread, stewed liver. 

Note: The Camp Leader points out that the above Bill of Fare is a Sunday one, on weekdays things are different.





	For example, 26.5.45.

Breakfast: 1 cup of tea, 1 teaspoonfull of Margarine, 3 slices of bread.
Dinner    :  Potato soup, 1 cup of tea.
Supper   :  1 ‘Frikadelle’, 20gr. Margarine, 3 slices of bread.   [frikadelle = meat ball]

Infirmary. In the Hall (C.R.S. Outfit).  [CRS = Camp Reception Station/medical centre]

a) Medical officer: WEISSPFENNIG, Walter, Marine Oberstabsarzt, 046829
                               Dentist: PAASCH, Gerhard, Ass.Arzt A.854934
b) Protected Personnel: Officers 2, Other Ranks 3.
c) Medical supplies: Sufficient.
d) General Medical Inspections: None.
e) Dental work is carried out by a German dentist and a German dental mechanic.
f) Average number of daily attendance at sick parade: 5.
g) Number of available beds: 7 in one ward. Occupied on date of visit (1 officer, 3 other ranks) = 4.
h) Cases in infirmary: Abscess               1
                                    Kidney trouble  1
                                    Liver trouble     1
                                    Diarrhoea          1
                                                              4
i) Serious cases:            None
j) Contagious diseases:   “
k) Epidemics:                  “
l) Deaths:                        “
m) Protected Personnel: Walks permitted.
n) Complaints: None.

General State of Health of POW in words of German Medical Officer: (“Mittelmässig bis gut”) Middling to good.

Note: A number of elderly men suffer from chronic ailments, the climate, etc. The oldest officer is 71 (chronic bladder trouble).

General State of Nutrition of POW in words of German medical officer: (“gut”) Good.

Clothing and Uniforms. At the moment, definitely unsatisfactory.

About 60 officers were captured on the battlefield and had no kit at all. One General oberst managed to bring some kit in a rucksack. According to the Convention, officers can purchase clothing (Art.22) or have kit sent from home (Art.37). The first is very difficult (shortages, etc) and the second at the moment absolutely impossible. We brought some of the worst cases to the notice of the Camp Adjutant, who will take the necessary steps. Every officer is, of course, in possession of his uniform, but some of the older men, who have nothing but one set of clothes and are attired in riding breeches and riding boots too small for them, or in dress trousers (‘Gehhosen’) would like to wear something else! A battledress
	
	issue is not permitted, as there is supposed to be a shortage of dyed-cloth (POW brown). 12 officers have no uniform trousers because these were worn out, and they have received as exchange issue.
     This question of uniform clothing and underwear applies to all officers in captivity, Generals or Subalterns, but we are of the opinion that healthy younger men can, if need be, endure privations better than senior officers between 55 and 71 years of age. Special facilities should be arranged for elderly men to get the necessary underwear, particularly for those who suffer from some ailment or other. The other ranks have received full issues, and, because classed as workers, a battledress outfit.

Laundry. The officers’ laundry is done in a nearby village. Some officers prefer to do their own washing. The soap issue is just sufficient, if used carefully.

Pay. The officers receive their pay according to scale. They give one quarter of it to provide cigarettes and cake for the German pow in a nearby hospital and for the other ranks in camp.

In addition, the other ranks receive 30/- pay per month each out of the Officers’ Fund.

Canteen. There is a small canteen, but the articles on sale are not supplied in sufficient quantities to meet the demand, and some necessities are not procurable at all. This, we were informed, is due to the general shortage. The Camp Adjutant will take this matter up with the supplies officer. Welfare Fund, £265.0.0.

Religious Activity.
a) Protestant Chaplain: GRUBER, Otto, Kriegspfr., H.520574.
    Services every Sunday. Bible classes.
b) Roman Catholic: No chaplain in camp.

Sports. There is a football pitch available, but seldom used.

Walks. The officers are permitted to go out daily in groups under guard. 3 S.S. officers are permitted one walk a week under guard. The other ranks go out once weekly.

Camp Library. About 1,300 books.

Educational Activity. The nature of the camp prevents an extensive organisation of classes. Only a small number of officers attend regular courses of instruction.
a) Lectures for all ages are held from time to time on subjects of general interest, such as Travel in Greece, South American geography, historical lectures or technical or agricultural subjects, such as agriculture from the point of view of political economy, the jewel industry, coal industry, insurance, etc.
b) Regular classes (2 a week)
Book-keeping and accountancy
Commercial arithmetic
Agriculture and pisciculture  [cultivation of fish]
Textile industry.
c) Languages English, French and Spanish groups.





	Film Shows None so far.

Radio Is permitted.

Correspondence 214 letters for all since 24.4.45.

Complaints None at all.

Escapes Since 24.4.45, none.

Discipline Excellent.

Requests A small number of requests were brought to the notice of the Camp Adjutant.

a) The Camp Leader desires – 

- speeding up of canteen goods, so that for example, every officer, including the Generals, can bring up the number of his shirts to at least 3 (1 for wear, 1 in the laundry and the third for use as a nightshirt) or even a fourth so that the ‘nightshirt’ can be washed.
Further articles very much in demand but almost unobtainable: Nightshirts or pyjamas and slippers.

- About 200 Bakelite cups about 4 inches high (against payment) which can be used instead of glasses, for toothbrushes or drinking water. The present old conserve tins or lower halves of bottles, which have been cut by a red-hot wire, are rather primitive articles for the use of high-ranking officers. (Note: a small number of Bakelite drinking cups were purchased some time ago, but are now unobtainable).

- Games of every description (‘Gesellschaftsspiele’).   [Board games]

- Playing cards (always in great demand)

- Musical score paper

- Watchmaker’s outfit (see last report).

- A medicine ball (‘Wűrfringe’)  [Throwing rings / hoops]

- New books or exchange of books.

- for medical officers: medical works on human physiology and on X-rays.

- Water colours and drawing paper for artists

- Black bread (German) or fruit conserves.

- If permitted, a number of ‘other ranks’ German uniform trousers of different sizes for elderly officers without kit (any quantity acceptable).

b) The Protestant Chaplain desires
- Hymnbooks
- An altar cloth.

	
	c) Three Generals, suffering from chronic ailments, wish to be transferred to a German-staffed hospital or nursing home. This request will be replied to by the London Delegation of the International Red Cross Committee.

d) The following Officers desire to be transferred or released for medical work in Germany:

REITER, Karl, Generalarzt.             A.938903    [Entries in ‘Tapping Hitler’s Generals]
LOERS, Hermann, Oberstarzt.         A.833399
THIERINGER, Karl, Oberfeldarzt       446718
GEIS, George,                   “              B.363101
SCHIEPE, Hans                “              A.814681

General Impression

Most officers seem to be reconciled to their fate and only suffer from lack of news from home and in many cases from lack of kit.
The British staff and German Camp Leader get on well together, their treatment is correct and fair.






24 June 1945 - Frédérick Bieri of the ICRC returned to the camp. There were 162 pows – 161 German / 1 Hungarian, (Feldmarschalleutnant Eugen de Bor). There were 2 General-Fieldmarschalls held at the Hall - Kleist and Rundstedt. With such high-ranking officers, and the secrecy of their location, Grizedale had gained a new nickname - ‘Hush Hush Hall’. 

“Since 27.5.45 all officers under the rank of General, with a few exceptions, have been transferred to an officers’ Prisoners of War camp. Besides this, 32 high-ranking officers; Generals, Admirals, etc., left camp on the 14.6.1945 for, as they were told, the United States of America. Two others also left, destination unknown, (probably camp 18). In the meantime, a new batch of Field Marshals and Generals came in, and more are expected.” The Camp Leader was still WILCK. Camp 18 = Featherstone Park. 

The requests made by the Camp Leader and spokesman, Generaloberst Adolf STRAUSS were:
- A suggested order for repatriation: 1. Maimed officers, 2. Invalids and sick, 3. POW over 60 years of age. (One of the pows was a 69-year-old SS General). 
- Speeding up delivery of mail, a request made in most camps at this time, and which, considering the disruption across Europe, would not be achieved for some time.
- Uniforms; still an issue.
- Newspapers required, especially those printed in Germany.
- More books, bibles, games, and a harmonium for religious services.

There were also a number of personal requests; mainly for news of family members and friends, books, but also a battery for a hearing aid, and one general, Kitzinger, requested vitamin c, his smoking material and his tracksuit. (Hard to know why this General Karl Kitzinger was not later prosecuted for war crimes).

Some of these officers were soon to be declared war criminals and there were frequent transfers to / from the London District Cage for interrogations. Examples from the War Diary, (WO 166-17820):

11 September 1945 – “War Criminal 967240 o/gruppfhn BERGER sent to London District Cage.”
22 September 1945 – “26 German Officer POW arrive (1 General, 1 Admiral, 12 obersts, 12 Kapts zur see)”
24 September 1945 – “No.560287 Gen Major WAGENER sent to London District Cage.”

7 December 1945 - ICRC visit. German high-ranking officers

By the end of 1945 most of the German officers were transferred to other camps – mainly Island Farm Camp 11. 

9 January 1946 - The generals, and Field Marshall Runstedt, left the camp.


1946 – July 1946: Austrian Officers.

6 February 1946 – the first Austrian officers arrive at the camp, (recorded by ICRC in May 1946 report). Just under half arrived from camps in Canada and USA.

28 March / 2 April 1946 - Report on a visit to the camp by a Mr Harrison and Mr Paulson from the PID. This is the first of several visits regarding re-education activities and the political ‘complexion’ of the camp. The comments regarding the Commandant are of interest as they record very conflicting views as they progress.

410 Austrian officers and other ranks.

Commandant: Lt Col R Morton, M.C.		Interpreter: Capt. F S Kingston

Lagerfuhrer: Oberst Kosch (C)			Sub-Lagerfuhrer: Oberleutn. Edlinger (B+)

Political complexion: black to grey.

Comments about their reception at the camp: “The Commandant and his interpreter officer gave us every possible assistance in our work and took a strong interest in the screening of every individual PW officer. The Commandant was at the same time looking forward to the start of re-education in his Camp, for which he showed as much interest.”

These remarks are the opposite to the next two reports made in June, below – to the extent that it hardly seems like the same camp / Commandant. 

Total screening results:

	
	A+
	A
	A-
	B+
	B
	B-
	C
	C+

	Officers
	4
	30
	-
	32
	96
	37
	69
	12

	Other ranks
	-
	8
	-
	29
	88
	3
	2
	-

	
	‘white’
	‘grey’
	‘black’



Political Complexion – “The whites are practically all non-professional officers. The older ones were in anti-Nazi parties in Austria before 1938 and never became Nazis at all, whilst the younger are mostly anti-Nazis because of their strong Catholic belief. They all would fight the rise of new Hitlerism. The most active anti-Nazi is Major Gradl, W.036305 (A+), 51 years of age, who was drafted into the Wehrmacht as an Oberleutnant after he had been a Hauptmann in the Austrian Army at the end of World War 1. He was C/L of an Austrian anti-Nazi camp in Canada because of his strong democratic beliefs. There he settled difficulties between his officers and other ranks in the shortest time by democratic means. This man is considered most reliable and pro-British and we should have appointed him C/L of No.1 Camp but for a telephone message about very early repatriation of the whites. Gradl lives in Vienna, but as he is not married, he certainly would agree to work in the British zone in Austria.

Another strong anti-Nazi is Leutnant Maedel, 261343 (A+), a strong Catholic, who was put in a concentration camp for his anti-Nazi views and later made an officer against his will.

The greys are to a large extent young professional officers who think that Nazism is bad because it didn’t stop the war early enough or because Hitler lost the war. At the same time, they do not consider themselves as PW but as ‘officer guests’ of this country. The rest of the greys are waverers, who have heard and read so many reports about early repatriation that they have changed their minds overnight and pretend to be anti-Nazis.

Among the blacks nearly all the C+ are incurable. They are the arrogant young Nazi officer type (more Prussian than the Prussians themselves). Most of the C’s still feel themselves loyal to Hitler and say they are not allowed to judge Hitlerism because their oath is still binding. The reason for this lies mainly in the strong military discipline, which was maintained in most Canadian camps after the capitulation.

The C/L Ritterkreztraeger (Knight’s Cross) Oberst Kosch, B, 93716 is C (Prussian militarist) and does not consider himself a Lagersprecher for PW officers of the dissolved Wermacht, but as the senior officer of his comrade officers. He has only been in a PW camp for 2 months, because he handed over the German aircraft in Norway to the British. This is one reason why this PW camp is so militaristic; the second is that most of the C and all of the C+ PW prefer it that way. They have mostly been PW for 5 or 6 years (shot down in the Battle of Britain as fighter and bomber pilots) and they think and feel to-day as they thought and felt in 1940/41.

[Later in the report it stated that Kosch was not a suitable camp leader. There were plans to replace him, but these fell through with repatriation arrangements for the intended replacement].

Communism – we did not find any sign of Communism in this camp at all. On the contrary there is a very strong anti-Communist feeling indeed. The arrogant blacks say openly they consider an Anglo-Russian war to be imminent. But because they have realized by now that their own country would disappear in an atom war, they are not looking forward to it. But they all feel certain – even the whites – that it is inevitable, and that they are ‘guest-officers’ until the struggle starts, when they will be asked to fight on Britain’s side. Why the anti-Communist feeling is getting stronger every day is because more and more mail with bad news is now arriving from the Russian zone (‘our daughter X (aged 12) has been raped,’ ‘we only possess what you have as a PW.’ ‘Col.X’s wife is expecting a baby shortly from….’ And so on).

Drop in the whites: it is estimated that the number of whites has dropped considerably in the last few weeks. Two reasons: 1) the officers from Canada were officially told that they would all be repatriated immediately. 2) some of them came from a democratic camp in Canada and found themselves suddenly in the old-style Prussian officers’ mess atmosphere.

Re-education. “re-education has not started at all in this camp….. in the camp at the moment only 7 books are available, according to the PW….”

The remark about re-education is telling, and was reflected upon more openly in the next British reports. The library was recorded previously as having a wide range of books including 500+ German texts, so the comment about books is confusing, especially as just a few weeks later there are over a thousand books.

20 May 1946 - delegate Frédérick Bieri made the final ICRC visit. Strength 388, including 15 protected personnel = 284 officers, 9 NCO and 95 other ranks. The highest rank was Oberst, (Colonel). There were 382 Austrians, 2 German and 4 Sudeten pows.

Camp commandant: 	Lt.Col R Morton.
Camp leader:		Oberst KOSCH, Benno	B.93716	Assistant C/L:	Lt. EDLINGER, Fritz	B.238035

21 officers in captivity since 1940
14       “      “       “           “     1941
23       “      “       “           “     1942

Clothing no longer recorded as an issue. 1316 books recorded in the library.

Correspondence – “Vienna very good. Russian and British zone good. French and USA zones very bad (excepting Salzburg in USA zone).”

Walks – daily for firewood, under guard. 3 times a week for exercise, also under guard. Other ranks just once a week. This is considerably less than in most other camps.

Educational activity – English/French/Italian/Spanish; book-keeping; economics; medical studies, botany; textile industry; law; architecture

General impression “A very good camp”.

14 June 1946 - A report was made by Major J N W Gwynne, R.A. regarding an investigation or reports of unrest at the camp.

“(1) the camp consists of 280 Austrian Officers and 130 other ranks, most of whom are white or grey.

(2) the Commandant is a German hater and, it seems, a hater of all foreigners. I am informed by the Interpreter Officer that he used frequently to insult the Generals when they were in this Camp and that he continues the practice now with these Austrian officers. Instances were given. He told me himself he did not care whether he had a contented camp or discontented; so far as he was concerned, they were all Huns and had got to behave; and personally he would like to take them in a boat in Lake Windermere and sink the lot!

(3) some of the PW have recently arrived here from Canada and U.S.A. where there was considerable freedom. Others have come from camps in England where they were allowed outside the camp unescorted. In this camp there is still wire everywhere with British armed guards at the gate. Officer PW who have volunteered for work are accompanied by guards armed with sten guns, and walks were only permitted with escorts who always insisted on going the same way.

(4) there have been continual rumours of repatriation.

(5) the camp is due to be removed shortly to Penrith.

If the comments in (2) are true, then a very different image of Lt Col Morton appears. Had he managed to deceive previous inspectors as to his interest in the pows? There is little reason to doubt these quite specific negative comments, except for the lack of complaints raised previously when the pows spoke to the ICRC. Commandants had considerable say over what did and did not occur in their camps. The comment that re-education had not started, and item 2 above, indicates reasons why there was unrest at this camp.

The report gave the causes for the discontent to be:

“(1) the PW feel their complaints do not receive a sympathetic hearing from the Commandant and believe they are ignored.

(2) the fact that although the war is over a year and they are Austrians, they are treated more or less as though the war were still on and they were Germans.

(3) the information which has reached them that when they are repatriated they will only be allowed to take with them one suit of chocolate battledress and will have to leave behind all other clothing – I understand this is the case and is embodied in a War Office Instruction.”

There was an Appendix to the report relating to three unusual cases of pows. Summaries -

(1) 511840, Gefr NEUMULLER, R – born in Vienna 1913. lived in Holland from the age of 9 and regarded himself as Dutch. 1942 conscripted in German Army. Served in Russia, then on the Western Front where he deserted and joined the Maquis. Arrived in London during 1944 and joined the Netherlands Army. He served until 1946, and married an English girl. In 1946 his true nationality was discovered and he was dismissed from the Dutch Army. He was declared to be an Austrian pow and eventually sent to Grizedale. His wife was due to have a child. “It seems a very hard case and there is no doubt in my mind he is a genuine A. He is a bank clerk by profession.”

(2) 105523, S/Arzt. A. KOWALD – joined the SS in 1933. 1938 became a medical Obersturmfuhrer in the SS. A ‘black mark’ meant he did not progress further. During the war he was in the Channel Islands where he was court martialled for giving medical supplies to the Islanders. Recommended that he should be repatriated with first batch.

(3) 543787, Oberst. E. BLAUENSTEINER – mistake in the records where he is listed as German, but is Austrian.

Sadly, no further information was given as to the fate of these 3 men.

15 / 16 June 1946 – English Inspector’s Report, Mr P Jackson. Total strength 372 – 280 officers, 92 other ranks. Noted as Austrian pows.

Lagersprecher – Kosch. All pows in the building. Some general remarks about text books, English teachers and generally high standards. “Everybody was vaguely expecting to go home and as a result only a limited amount of interest was being taken in study.”

The inspector recognised that nothing could be done about the Commandant’s attitude, but he made some recommendations;
- he persuaded the Commandant to allow pows out for walks unescorted.
- the Austrians should be given a better send off at the despatching camps to eradicate to some extent the hostile impression given by the Commandant. 
- he requested that the rule on clothing be reviewed.
- a Training Assistant should visit the camp.
- the Austrian Legation should send the bulletin of ‘Current Affairs in Austria’ and ‘The Austrian Democratic Union’.
- two lecturers should visit the camp at the request of the pows

His comments came too late for any improvements to be made. Soon after all prisoners were removed and the camp was decommissioned. Most Austrian pows were repatriated at this time via other UK pow transit camps.

23 July 1946 – the camp closed.


There were several escape attempts from Grizedale – two are detailed below, (Berndt / Von Werra). Five Luftwaffe pows escaped by covering themselves with earth and grass while outside the camp. They intended to get to Cark Airfield, about 15 miles to the south but were quickly recaptured. There was an attempt to build a tunnel.


People Associated with Camp 1

Commandants:
1939 - ? Lieutenant Colonel Cobb.
c.1942 Major James Reynolds Veitch. Listed as Major in 1942 IRC report, but several sources list him as Colonel.
c.1945 Lieutenant Colonel R Morton M.C. from the Cheshire Regiment

Just a few examples of the prisoners, or have stories related to Grizedale:

Note – I have tried to keep ranks as they were when the prisoners arrived at Grizedale. Many were promoted while being held captive, for example Werner Lott was captured in 1939, then promoted from Kapitänleutnant to Korvettenkapitän in 1940.

	· Oberleutnant zur See (Lieutenant) Bernhard Berndt.
There is much confusion over many aspects of Berndt’s capture and short time as a prisoner of war.

Berndt was the first watch officer (the number two) on U-570 which was commanded by Kapitänleutnant Hans-Joachim Rahmlow. Just a few days into its maiden voyage in August 1941, the U-boat surfaced and was attacked by an RAF Hudson. Depth charges damaged the U-boat, and Rahmlow mistakenly believed that chlorine gas had been released from fractured batteries. Some accounts state that Rahmlow was incapacitated by the attack and that Berndt was in effective command - others do not. Whoever was in charge, not knowing that the Hudson had released all of its depth-charges, someone believed that a second attack would prove fatal and instructed that a white flag be shown. Certainly, this was the only U-boat, and possibly the only ship, that surrendered to an aircraft during World War 2.

Other aircraft were soon watching over the submarine until ships were able to arrive. The crew on board U-570 destroyed the radio, enigma machine and some documents – however they failed to destroy some important documents, including the commander’s handbook which later provided useful information for breaking the Enigma code.
	[image: ]

	
	U-570 - many of the crew are on the bridge after the attack.



	[image: A surfaced submarine is slowly sailing into a port. A wharf can be seen in the background with large cranes, buildings and two berthed ships.]
	The incident seems, at the least, to have been incompetently managed by the U-boat captain.

Rahmlow was warned by allied ships that they would open-fire if there was any attempt to scuttle the U-boat. At one point a destroyer fired warning shots as they believed the Germans were being obstructive in fixing a tow line - five of the crew were injured. A tow line was then attached, the crew were taken off and the U-570 was towed to Iceland.

After inspection and some repairs, the U-570 was escorted to Barrow-In-Furness with a British crew, arriving 3 October. The U-570 later saw service with the British navy as HMS Graph.

The German crew of U-570 consisted of 4 officers, 3 chief petty officers, 11 petty officers and 25 ratings, making a total of 43.

The four officers were – Kapitänleutnant Hans-Joachim Rahmlow  /  Oberleutnant zur See Bernhard Berndt   /  Junior officer, Leutnant zur See (Sub-Lieutenant) Walter Christiansen  /  Engineer Officer, Leutnant (Ing.) (Engineer Sub-Lieutenant) Erich Menzel.

An ‘Interrogation of Crew” Report was issued October 1941, (available - www.uboatarchive.net/U-570/U-570INT.htm ).

	U-570 in Barrow-In-Furness
	



Some accounts state that these four officers were sent to Grizedale Hall after interrogation in London – but others state that the Captain was not, as his life would be at risk. The interview of a guard by the Ambleside Oral History Group records: “Anyway the Commander himself when he came in after he had met them all, [Kretschmer and the other pows] he wanted to be locked away. He didn’t want to be with them because he had handed his U Boat over instead of scuttling it, you see, and he had to be locked away, so we locked him up in the cellar, down in the cells…” 

There is then an account of the escape by the second in command. “What happened to the commander?” – “Now he got moved; they moved him out. Yes, took him away. I don’t know where he went to. No idea.” [The ubootarchiv.de records that Rahmlow lived until 1967]. 

Hearing how U-570 had been captured by the allies, the Germans at Grizedale, led by Otto Kretschmer, held a ‘Court of Honour’. Rahmlow was found guilty of cowardice in absentia. Berndt was also found guilty as it was considered he should have taken action against his captain. The two junior officers were found not guilty. The decision of this kangaroo ‘court’ was that Berndt should be ostracized, and when the Germans won the war, he should be handed over for court martial, and most likely, execution. Unknown to the British at that time, Kretschmer was able to communicate this decision in code to Germany, (using the ‘Ireland code’) through letters sent to his family via the International Red Cross.

When the camp learned from newspaper articles that the U-570 had appeared at Barrow-In-Furness – Berndt either offered to go there to destroy the submarine, or was instructed to do so. Whether as a volunteer or through coercion, he was supplied with civilian clothes, money, forged papers as a Dutch merchant seaman and a map by the German escape committee at Grizedale. On 18 October, an outdoor singing session was arranged close to a watch tower during which a hole was cut into the wire fence. Berndt managed to escape through this gap without being observed.

Berndt’s escape was discovered a short while later during a roll call and the police and local Home Guard were notified to start a search. He was discovered the following morning hiding under a tarpaulin in a sheep pen on the fells by Alex Weir a member of the Home Guard. Berndt gave his story of being Dutch on the way to his ship in the Clyde – however, considering the news that there was an escaped POW in the neighbourhood, it is not surprising that Weir wanted to confirm this story. The Home Guard decided to take Berndt back to Grizedale to see if he would be identified as the missing prisoner.

It is not known whether Berndt could not face the prospect of being returned to the camp where he was ostracized, or whether it was a desperate attempt to prove he was not a coward, but as Berrndt was being led back to the Hall he made a break from his escort. He ignored shouted orders to stop and was shot. He was taken to a local farmhouse, but died before a doctor could arrive. Berndt was buried locally, but his body was later moved to the German Military Cemetery at Cannock Chase.

After this, Kretschmer and other officers were questioned over the escape due to the clothes and map found on Berndt, but there was insufficient evidence to pinpoint who else had been involved.

· Leutnant Heinrich Coster (navigator). Shot down and injured during bombing raid 8 April 1941. After treatment at Lytham Hospital and interrogation, he was taken to Grizedale. Transferred to Bowmanville Camp, Canada in 1942 and returned to Germany in 1946. He died in 1971.

· Major Willibald Fanelsa. Observer on a Heinkel 111 shot down over Caterham on 27 August 1940 while on a bombing raid headed to Coventry. The pilot was Feldwebel. F Meyer who was also captured unhurt. Fanelsa arrived at Grizedale mid-September 1940. He was part of the camp council.

· Korvettenkapitän Hugo Förster. A brief stay at Grizedale. When his U-boat U-501 was attacked he was the first to jump aboard one of the attacking ships. After being charged with deserting his command by Kretschmer’s kangaroo court – somehow Commandant Veitch found out that Förster’s life was at risk and transferred him to another camp. He committed suicide in 1945 on his return to Germany.

· Kapitänleutnant Johannes Franz. Captain of U-27, the second U-boat to be sunk during the war, 20 September 1939. All 38-crew survived and were made POWs.

· Kapitänleutnant Gerhard Glattes. Captain of U-39, the first U-boat to be sunk during the war, 14 September 1939. All 43 or 44 crew survived and were made POWs – for a short while at the Tower of London. Glattes spent the next seven and a half years as a POW, (1939 to 1942 at Grizedale) only being released on 8 April 1947. 

	· SS-general Maximilian von Herff. Herff served in north Africa. In 1942 he joined the Waffen-SS and became a Nazi Party member. He worked on Himmler’s personal staff. During 1943 he played a major role in supressing the Warsaw Ghetto uprising.
He was captured by the British in 1945 and held at Grizedale. He stated that although he was aware of Jewish deportations, he had played no role in the holocaust. 6 September 1945, he suffered a stroke and died at Conishead Priory Military Hospital at Ulverston, Cumbria. He was buried at Ulverston Cemetery, and then later re-buried Cannock Chase German war cemetery.            

1943 Herff in Warsaw >

· Oberleutnant Gunter Klemm (pilot). Shot down and injured during a bombing raid 8 April 1941. After treatment at Lytham
Hospital and interrogation, he was taken to Grizedale. Transferred to Shap Wells (Camp 13) in May 1942. Due to his injuries, he was repatriated to Germany in 1943 as part of a prisoner exchange scheme. He died in 1972.

· [bookmark: kretschmer]Korvetten-Kapitan (lieutenant commander) Otto Kretschmer
	[image: ]

	Germany’s most successful U-boat captain. From September 1939 until his surrender on 17 March 1941, he hit 44 ships in U-99.


	[image: ]
	When he arrived at Grizedale Hall he became the senior officer and leader of the prisoners’ committee. He is recorded as being the Camp Leader in the International Red Cross report in 18 March 1942.

Shortly after the ICRC report he was shipped with other officers to Bowmanville Camp in Canada. In 1943 there was an attempt by the Germans to rescue Kretschmer, (Operation Kiebitz). He was later transferred to Camp 165 at Watten, Caithness and then to Lodge Moor Camp.

He was repatriated to Germany in December 1947 and joined the West German navy. Otto Kretschmer died in Bavaria, 1998.

< Kretschmer receiving an award from Adolf Hitler.

Kapitänleutnant Werner Lott. Captain of U-35, scuttled on 29 November 1939 – all 43 crew members survived and were taken prisoner and were held for a while at the Tower of London. Lott recounted how he had complained of his accommodation and asked to speak to the officer in charge. Instead, he was visited by Lord Louis Mountbatten who had been the commander of the flotilla that had sunk U-35 


and had returned to London. Lott’s accommodation was soon changed and by way of apology the Admiralty offered him dinner together with his second in command at Scott’s restaurant, providing they gave a promise not to try to escape. Lott kept his promise and a few days later he was transferred to Grizedale with the three other officers, and apparently the U-35’s cook.

4 Officers of U35 - Kapt.Ltn. Werner Lott, Commander - Ob.Ltn.z.S. Heinz Erchen, First Watch Officer - Kapt.Ltn.(Ing.) Gerhard Stamer, Chief Engineer - Ltn.z.S. Hans-Joachim Roters, Second Watch Officer (+ Mtr.H.Gfr. Martin Müller (cook)).

Lott was part of the Grizedale camp council until 1942. He made the first attempt to escape from the camp. He managed to acquire some English money, (prisoners were paid in token money), a fake identity card and civilian clothing. He did not succeed in getting beyond the barbed-wire fence surrounding the camp.

He was shipped to Canada in 1942.

· Oberleutnant Moll. Mentioned in March 1942 IRC report as in charge of postal services. Probably shipped to Canada later that month.

· Oberleutnant Perchermeier Mentioned in ‘The One That Got Away’ – “….a draughtsman in civilian life, has drawn me a map of the area and part of Northern Ireland. 
Don't suppose it is accurate, but it is the best I can do and it embodies everything that men in the camp remember of the area. Perchermeier has made a copy of it for possible future use.”

· Luftwaffe Hauptmann Helmut Pohle. Leader of the first German bombing raid on Britain on 16 October 1939 at Rosyth. Three British ships were damaged with 16 sailors 
killed. Two of the enemy JU 88 dive bombers were shot down, killing four crew members, a third bomber crashed later in Holland killing all on board. 

Four German airmen were captured including Pohle and Oberleutnant Sigmund Storp. They were taken as prisoners of war to Edinburgh Castle and were later transferred to Grizedale. Pohle was part of the camp council during 1940. Shipped to Canada in 1942.

	· General Field Marshal Karl Rudolf Gerd von Rundstedt. A German commander for the invasion and occupation of Poland, France and
the USSR. Promoted to Field Marshall in 1940. Commander-in–Chief (twice) in western Europe.

Under his command - surrendered soldiers were shot in Poland – in the Soviet Union the Einsatzgruppen were involved in the mass extermination of Jews and others, including the mass murders at Babi Yar – the ‘Commando Order’ of 1942 was enacted – and the Oradour massacre occurred in France. Despite this, the International Military Tribunal decided that no individual German field commanders would be tried at Nuremberg, but “the General Staff and High command of the German Armed Forces” was collectively indicted.

At the end of the war Rundstedt was the most senior German officer in Allied custody. He was interrogated by the US Army at Weisbaden, then handed over to the British in July 1944. He was held at Wilton Park (Camp 20) where the Combined Services Detailed Interrogation Centre (CSDIC) was located. After this he was transferred to Grizedale Hall and then to Island Farm Camp in South Wales. Runstedt was allowed to have his son, Major Dr Hans Gerd Rundstedt, sent to the Grizedale with him – a favour obtained from Montgomery.

Rundstedt appeared before the Nuremberg Tribunal to speak in defence of the German army >
	[image: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/thumb/7/73/Gerd_von_Rundstedt.jpg/170px-Gerd_von_Rundstedt.jpg]



Despite calls from the US, Soviet Union and other countries, and even some cabinet members, the British Government resisted putting Rundstedt on trial until 1949. The trial was then abandoned on medical grounds. He was released in May 1949 and died of heart failure on 24 February 1953 in Hannover.

· Konteradmiral (Ing.) (Rear-admiral) Hans Voss. [Not to be confused with Hans-Erich Voss]. Voss was arrested in Oslo, Norway where he was part of the Navy High
Command. From July 1945 to January 1946, he was held at Grizedale and then transferred to Island Farm Special Camp (11). In 1948 he was transferred to US custody in Germany and then released. He died in 1973.

	· [image: ]Oberleutnant Franz Baron von Werra
Shot down over Kent on 5 September 1940. After interrogation he was sent to Grizedale Hall. 

His first escape attempt was made on 7 October when he was a member of a working party. He survived poor weather and harsh conditions in the fells for six days until he was re-captured and transferred to Swanwick Camp (5). He was later shipped to Canada where he managed to escape from a train and made his way to the neutral USA. 

Von Werra was smuggled back to Germany – being the only German to make a ‘home-run’ as a British POW, albeit from Canada. He re-joined the Luftwaffe and was shot down and killed over the sea by Holland on 25 October 1941.

The story of von Werra was written up in a book ‘The One that got Away’ and later made into a film of the same name, (von Werra was played by Hardy Kruger).

Part of the film was shot on location at Grizedale shortly before it was demolished.
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	[image: http://bbm.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Grizedale7-opt-300x223.jpg]
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	Scenes from the film
	



	[image: http://bbm.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Grizedale3-opt-300x225.jpg]
	After the camp:

The site was returned to the Forestry Commission who had no particular use for the hall. Most of the contents were auctioned and the hall was demolished in 1957. 

An archaeological survey of the grounds was carried out for the Forestry Commission by; ‘North Pennines Archaeology Ltd’ in 2006 (Client Report No CP/316/06).
	[image: ]

	
Regarding any evidence left from the use of Grizedale estate as POW Camp 1. They reported;
	


“Areas of upstanding masonry are visible overlying the footprint of the largely demolished building, and a number of walls were identified using a copy of the floor plan of the hall during the visit….. Earthworks relating to huts placed on the front lawn, to be used as extra rooms for interred Germans during the war, were also identified. In addition, further remains of ancillary buildings are visible behind the later hall, possibly being those of a guards’ hut and a police hut from the POW camp.”

A large part of the site is now the Grizedale Forest visitor centre.

For pictures of the site today - https://repatriatedlandscape.org/england/pow-sites-in-the-north-west/pow-camp-1-grizedale/

Further information:

National Archive References: FO 939/82 – 1 Officers Camp, Grizedale Camp, Hawkshead, Westmoreland - and WO 166/17820 (War Diaries, used above).

National Archives - FO 1120/206 – ‘Re-educational survey visit reports for camps 1 to 4’. Between 1946 to 1948 inspections were carried out at various camps for German pows regarding the provision of re-education programmes. The quality and detail of the reports vary greatly.

‘They Call It U-Boat Hotel’ – Simon Crump – Grizedale Books – 2001. Includes ICRC reports, a map of the site; plans of the building, and a transcript of the interview by Ambleside Oral History Group of Ernie Ridgeway, a guard at the camp from 1940 to 1946.
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